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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MAURA McCORMICK :
Plaintiff : CIVIL ACTION
NO 10-¢cv-1660
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
V.
and : _
DAVID NEIL, JR., Individually and in www.911Dispatch.com
His Official Capacity with the County
Of Bucks
Defendants.

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

I INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Maura McCormick files the within action to redress the violations of the Equal
Protection Clause and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, 42 US.C. §

1983 and seeks declaratory relief and damages.

1. JURISDICTION

1. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this civil rights action pursuant to
28 US.C. § 1331, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C.§ 1343,

2. This is an action pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,
42 1J.8.C. § 1983, to redress the deprivation of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights who, due to her
female gender, was subjected to daily severe and pervasive sexual harassment and gender
discrimination which was severe and pervasive enough to change and/or materially affect the

terms, conditions and privileges of Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant County of Bucks.
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3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(h), since all

Defendants reside in this District and the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.
II.  PARTIES

4. Plamtiff Maura McCormick 1s an adult female individual and a citizen and
resident of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, residing therein at 910 Avenue B, Langhorne,
PA 19047

5. Defendant County of Bucks is a political subdivision within the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania, headquartered at 55 East Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901,

6. Defendant David Neil, Jr. Individually and in his Official Capacity with the
County of Bucks is an adult male individual, who is believed to be a citizen and resident of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, whose address for purposes of service of process is ¢/o County
of Bucks, 55 East Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901.

V.  FACTS UPON WHICH CLAIMS ARE BASED

7. Plaintiff Maura McCormick has been employed as a 911 Dispatcher for
Defendant County of Bucks since approximately 2001.

8. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant David Neil, Jr., served as the Assistant
Superintendent of -Operations —of Department of Emergency Communications of Peferdant—————
County of Bucks.

9. At all relevant times, Defendant David Neil, Jr.’s position was superior to the
position of Plaintiff McCormick and Defendant David Neil, Jr. had supervisory authority over
PlaintifT.

10. At all relevant times, Defendant David Neil, Jr. was acting in his official capacity

and under color of state law.
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11 At all relevant times, Defendant David Neil, Jr., while acting in his supervisory
and official capacity and under the color of state law, engaged in daily pattern and practice of
severe and pervasive sexual harassment and gender discrimination directed towards Plaintiff
Maura McCormick, an employee of Defendant County of Bucks’ Radio Room and Emergency
Communications Department.

12. At all relevant times, Defendant County of Bucks knew or should have known
about the existence of a sexually charged, discriminatory and derogatory atmosphere in its
Department of Emergency Communications and specifically in Defendant’s Radio Room, where
on a daily basis, Plaintiff Maura McCormick was subjected to sexually suggestive remarks, lewd
jokes, unwelcome touching, pornographic and sexually explicit imagery and unwanted sexual
harassment by supervisors, including by Defendant David Neil, Jr.

13, Beginning in or about 2001 and continuing on a daily basis until his termination in
April of 2008, Defendant David Neil, Jr., engaged in the pattern and practice of severe and
pervasive sexual harassment and gender discrimination directed towards Plaintiff Maura
McCormick, which included, but was not limited to making sexually suggestive remarks, lewd

Jokes and commentary, unwelcome touching and other unwanted sexual harassment.

FaalFas ha Yis ik

ULV T

PLAINTIFF MAURA MCCORMICK v. ALL DEFENDANTS
VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION
42 U.S.C. § 1983

14. Plaintiff Maura McCormick hereby incorporates the preceding paragraphs of her
Complaint as though stated in length herein.

15. The above-described conduct of Defendants constitutes a pattern and practice of
harassment and discrimination based on Plaintiff’s female gender,

16. The said conduct was severe and pervasive and affected the terms, conditions and
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privileges of Plaintiff’s employment and created a hostile work environment for Plaintiff based
on her female gender.

17. At all times Defendants were acting as state actors, in their official capacities and
under the color of state law, and with express intent fo discriminate against Plaintiff based on her
female gender and to deprive her of her Constitutional Right to Equal Protection Under the Law.

18. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, as described above, Plaintiff Maura
McCormick suffered mjuries and damages, which include, but are not limited to emotional
distress, embarrassment and humiliation, anxiety, sleep disturbances, depressed mood, feelings
of worthlessness, helplessness, and hopelessness, loss of enjoyment of life and life’s pleasures
and other ills, injuries and damages the full extent of which is yet unknown and which may
continue indefinitely into the future.

19. As a further result of Defendants’ conduct, as described above, Plaintiff Maura
McCormick was forced to incur and is expected to continue to incur ongoing attorney’s fees and
various other administrative costs, the full extent of which is not yet known.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Maura McCormick requests the following relief be granted:

a) This Honorable Court find that Defendants are in violation of the law and

have-infringed-on Plaintiffs-Constitutional Rights-to-Equal Protection Under the Law-

b) That Defendants be forever and permanently enjoined from infringing on
Plaintiff’s Constitutional Rights.

c) That Defendants be ordered to pay Plaintiff Maura McCormick damages
and be required to pay Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs of suit.

d) That this Honorable Cowt order any other relief that may be just and

proper under the Constitution and laws of the United States.
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COUNT II
PLAINTIFF MAURA MCCORMICK v. DEFENDANT DAVID NEIL, JR.
PUNITIVE DAMAGES

20. Plaintiff hereby incorporates the preceding paragraphs of her Complaint as though
stated in length herein,

21. The conduct of Defendant David Neil, Jr., performed in his official capacity and
under color of state law, constituted intentional, willful, wanton, deliberate and malicious
infringement on, violation and intentional and reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s Constitutional
Rights to Equal Protection under the Law based on her female gender.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Maura McCormick seeks the award of Punitive Damages.

Respectfully submitted,

GALFAND BERGER, L.L.P.

DEBRA &._JENSEN, ESQUIRE
HENRY YAMPOLSKY, ESQUIRE
1835 Market Street Suite 2710
Philadelphia, PA 19103

(215) 665-1600

Fax: (215) 564-2262
diensenipaifandberper.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff Maura McCormick
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MAURA McCORMICK
: CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff, : NO 10-cv-1660

V.

COUNTY OF BUCKS
and

DAVID NEIL, JR., Individually and in
His Official Capacity with the County
Of Bucks

Defendanis.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Henry Yampolsky, Esquire, hereby certify that a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s

Second Amended Complaint was served on the following individuals via United States Postal

Service, First Class Mail, Postage pre-paid on May 26, 2010:
County of Bucks
55 East Court Street
Doylestown, PA 18901

David Neil, Jr.

c/o County of Bucks
55 BEast Court Street
Doylestown, PA 18901

GALFAND BERGER, L.L.P.

BY: / W -

HENRY YAMPOLSKY, ESQUIRE
1835 Market Street

Suite 2710

Philadelphia, PA 19103

(215) 665-1600

Fax: (215) 564-2262
hvampolskv@uaifandbsrgen con

B vty

Attorney for Plaintiff Maura McCormick
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MAURA McCORMICK,
CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff,
V.

COUNTY OF BUCKS and : NO. 10-CV-1660
DAVID NEIL, JR., :

Defendants.

ANSWER OF DEFENDANT

COUNTY OF BUCKS TO THE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT OF MAURA MCCORMICK

Defendant County of Bucks (the “County” or “Defendant™), by and through 1ts
undersigned counsel,’ hereby answers the Second Amended Complaint filed by Plaintiff Maura
McCormick (“Plaintiff”), denying every averment except as to those expressly admitted below.

1. INTRODUCTION

It is admitted that Plaintiff files this action under the Equal Protection Clause and
the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and seeks
declaratory relief and damages in the introductory paragraph of the Second Amended Complaint.
It is denied that Plaintiff is entitled to any relief or damages under the Equal Protection Clause or
the Fourteenth Amendment. It is also denied that the County violated the Equal Protection
Clause and the Fourteenth Amendment.

I1. JURISDICTION

1. Admitted.

: The undersigned counsel does not represent Defendant David Neil, Jr.

DMEAST #12717673 v1



Case 2:10-cv-01660-TJS Document 22 Filed 07/26/10 Page 2 of 6

2. It is admitted that Plaintiff brings this action under the Fourteenth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The remaining averments contained
in paragraph 2 of the Second Amended Complaint are denied.

3. Admitted.

III. PARTIES

4. Admitted.

5. Admitted.

6. It is admitted that David Neil, Jr. is an adult individual. The County is
without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the averment that
Plaintiff believes that Mr. Neil is a citizen and resident of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
The remaining averments contained in paragraph 6 of the Second Amended Complaint are

denied.

IV.  FACTS UPON WHICH CLAIMS ARE BASED

7. Admitted.
8. Denied.
9. Denied.
10. Denied.
11. Denied.
12. Denied.
13. Denied.

DMEAST #12717673 v1 2
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COUNT I
PLAINTIFF MAURA MCCORMICK v. ALL. DEFENDANTS
VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION
42 U.S.C. § 1983

14. The County incorporates herein by reference its answers to Paragraphs 1

through 13 of the Second Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

15. Denied.
16. Denied.
17. Denied.
18. Denied.
19. Denied.

WHEREFORE, Defendant County of Bucks requests that this Court dismiss the
Second Amended Complaint, enter judgment in its favor, and assess costs and attorney fees

against the Plaintiff.

COUNT 11
PLAINTIFF MAURA MCCORMICK v. DEFENDANT DAVID NEIL, JR.
PUNITIVE DAMAGES
20. The County incorporates herein by reference its answers to Paragraphs 1

through 19 of the Second Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

21.  Denied.

WHEREFORE, Defendant County of Bucks requests that this Court dismiss the
Second Amended Complaint, enter judgment in its favor, and assess costs and attorney fees

against the Plaintiff.

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

DMEAST #12717673 v1 3
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SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations.

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the doctrines of waiver, estoppel, and laches.

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County acted at all times in good faith and for legitimate and

nondiscriminatory reasons.

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County’s actions or inactions were not the proximate, legal, or substantial
cause of any damages, injury or loss suffered by Plaintiff, the existence of which is denied.

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County exercised reasonable care to prevent and correct promptly any
harassing behavior and the Plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventive or
corrective opportunities provided by the County or to avoid harm otherwise.

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to mitigate her damages.

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County took prompt remedial and appropriate steps in response to complaints

of sexual harassment brought against David Neil.

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred because all actions of the County were proper,

privileged, justified, and undertaken in good faith.

DMEAST #12717673 v1 4
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WHEREFORE, Defendant County of Bucks requests that the Court dismiss the

Second Amended Complaint, enter judgment in its favor, and assess costs and attorney fees

against the Plaintiff.

Date: July 26, 2010 ?'\~ wa OL L—-

Frank A. Chemak (Attorney L.D. No. 57602)
Alexandra Bak-Boychuk (Attorney 1.D. 204414)
BALLARD SPAHR LLP

1735 Market Street, 51st Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599

(215) 864-8234

Email: chemakf@ballardspahr.com

Email: bakboychuka@ballardspahr.com

Attorneys for Defendant
County of Bucks

DMEAST #12717673 v1 5



Case 2:10-cv-01660-TJS Document 22 Filed 07/26/10 Page 6 of 6

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Frank A. Chernak, hereby certify that on the 26™ day of July, 2010, the
foregoing Answer of Defendant County of Bucks to the Second Amended Complaint of Maura
McCormick has been filed electronically and is available for viewing and downloading from the
ECF system. I further certify that I caused a true and correct copy of same to be served upon the
following counsel for Plaintiff via electronic filing:

Henry Yampolsky, Esquire
1835 Market Street

Suite 2710

Philadelphia, PA 19103
Tracy P. Hunt, Esquire

110 N. State Street
Newtown, PA 18940

Date: July 26, 2010 ﬂ\,«L Ad (""

Frank A. Chernak

DMEAST #12717673 v1
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FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA — DESIGNATION FORM to be used by counsel to indicate the category of the case for the purpose of
assigament to appropriate calendar.

Address of Plainif:. Marie Funk, 133 Wigton Circle, Perkasie, PA 18944

55 East Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901
Address of Defendant:

County of Bucks, PA

Place of Accident, Incident or Transaction:

(Use Reverse Side For Additional Space)

Does this civil action involve a nongovernmental corporate party with any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation owning 10% or more of its stock?

{Attach two copies of the Disclosure Statement Form in accordance with Fed .R.Civ.P. 7.1(a}) YesD NCK
Does this case involve mnitidistrict litigation possibilities? YesD NQN/
RELATED CASE, IFF ANY:

Case Number: Tudge Date Terminated:

Civil cases are deemed related when yes is answered to any of the Tollowing questions:

1. Is this case related to property included in an earlier numbered suit pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court?

Yes N
2. Does this case involve the same issue of fact or grow cut of the same transaction as a prior suit pending or within one year previously terminated

action in this court?
Yes O N(}M

3. Does this case involve the validity or infringement of a patent already in suit or any carlier munbered case pending or within one year previousty

terminated action in this court? Yes (| No

4. Is this case a second or successive habeas corpus, social security appeal, or pro se civil rights case filed by the same individual?

Yesld N% (

CIVIL: (Place ¢ in ONE CATEGORY ONLY)
A

. Federal Question Cases: B. Diversity Jurisdiction Cases:

1, O Indemnity Contract, Maring Contract, and All Other Contracts 1, O Insurance Contract and Other Contracts
2, O FELA 2. 11 Airplane Personal Injury

3. O Jones Act-Personal Injury 3. 1 Assault, Defamation

4. O Antitrust 4. 1 Marine Personal Injory

5. O Patent 5. B Motor Vehicle Personal Injury

6. O Labor-Management Relations 6. O Other Personal Injury (Please

specify)

7. Civil Rights 7. O Products Liability

8. O Habeas Corpus . B Produets Liability — Asbestos

9. O Securities Act(s) Cases 5. O All other Diversity Cases
10, O Social Security Revicw Cases (Please specily)
f1. & All other Federal Question Cases

{Please specify)
ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION
Hem:'y Y ampo lsk.y Esq . (Check Appropriate Category)
. ’ , counsel of record do hereby certify:

Pursnant to Local Civil Rule 53.2, Section 3(c){2), that 1o the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case exceed the sum of
$£50 00.00 exclusive of interest and costs;
Relief other than monetary damages is sought.

DATE: OS~26-/0 Henry Yampolsky, EsT. 200213

Attomey-at-Law Attorney L.D#
NOTE: A trial de novo will be & trial by jury only if there has been compliance with FR.C.T. 38.

I certily that, to my knowledge, the within case is nof related to any case new pepding or within one year previously terminated action in this court
except as noted above.

paTE: OS5 —Pio~feo Henry Yampolsky, E 200213
Attorney-at-Law Attomey LI.#

CIV. 609 (6/08)
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FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA — DESIGNATION FORM to be used by counsel to indicate the category of the case for the purpose of
“assignment to appropriate calendar.

Address of Plantife Marie Fumk, 133 Wigton Circle, Perkasie, PA 18944

55 East Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901
Address of Defendant:

County of Bucks, PA

Place of Accident, Incident or Transaction:

(Use Reverse Side For Additional Space}

Does this civil action involve 2 nongovernmental corporate party with any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation owming 10% or more of its siock?

(A ttach two copies of the Disclosure Statement Form in accordance with Fed R.Civ.P. 7.1{a}) Yes O Ncﬂ/
Does this case involve multidistrict litigation possibilities? ) YesO NOE’I
RELATED CASE, IF ANY:

Case Number: Tudge Date Terminated:

Civil cases are deemed related when yes is answered to any of the foliowing questions:

1. Is this case related to property included in an earlier numbered suit pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court?

YesO N
2. Draes this case involve the same issue of fact or grow out of the same transaction as a prier suit pending or within one year previously terminated

action in this court?
YesLJ NQH

3. Does this case involve the validity or infringement of a patent already in suit or any earlier numbered case pending or within one year previously

teminated action in this court? YesD No

4. Is this case a second or successive habeas corpus, social security appeal, or pro se civil rights case filed by the same individual?

vesl Ngh%f

CIVTL: (Place ¢ in ONE CATEGORY ONLY)

A, Federal Question Cayes: B. Diversity Jurisdiction Cases:
1. O Indemnity Confract, Marine Contract, and All Other Contracts 1, O Insurance Contract and Other Contracts
2. O FELA 2. O Ajdrplane Personal Injury
3. O Jones Act-Personal Injury 3. O Assavlt, Defamation
4, O Antitrust 4, {1 Marine Personal Irjury
5. O Patent 5. O Motor Vebicle Personal Injury
6. 0O Labor-Management Relations 6. O Other Personal Injury (Please
specifly)
7. Civil Rights 7. O Products Liability
87 &) Jlabeas Corpus . B-Products Liability =— Asbestos
9. O Securities Act(s) Cases 5. O All other Diversity Cases
14, O Social Security Review Cases (Please specify)
11. @ All other Federal Question Cases
(Please specify)

ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION

Henry Yampolsk Esq. (Check Appropriate Category)
y P > 4 , counsel of record do hereby certify:

ﬁ Pursuant to Local Civil Rube 53.2, Section 3(c)}(2), that te the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recaverable in this civil action case exceed the sum of
$150,000.00 exclusive of interest and caosts;

Relief other than monetary damages is songht.

DATE: (D826 ~/O Henry Yampolsky, Esg: 200213
Attorney-at-Law Attomey LD #
NOTE: A trial de navoe will be a trial by jury only if there has been compliance with F.R.C.P. 38.

I certify that, to my knowledge, the within case is nof related to any cgse ngw pendjng-or within cne year previously terminated action in this court

cxcept as noted above.

PATE: OS5 =26 ~/C2 Henry Yampolsky,\Fs5q. 200213
Attorney-at-Law Altorney LD.#

CIV . 609 (6/08)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CASE MANAGEMENT TRACK DESIGNATION FORM

Marie Funk : CIVIL ACTION
V.

County of Bucks and David Neill, Jr., :

Individually and in his official Capacity : NO.

with the County of Bucks

In accordance with the Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan of this court, counsel for
plaintiff shall complete a Case Management Track Designation Form in all civil cases at the time of
filing the complaint and serve a copy on all defendants. (See § 1:03 of the plan set forth on the reverse
side of this form.) In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on
the plaintiff and all other parties, a Case Management Track Designation Form specifying the track
to which that defendant belicves the case should be assigned.

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CASE MANAGEMENT TRACKS:
(a) Habeas Corpus — Cases brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 through § 2255. ()

(b) Social Security — Cases requesting review of a decision of the Secretary of Health
and Human Services denying plaintiff Social Security Benefits. ()

(c) Arbitration — Cases required to be designated for arbitration under Local Civil Rule 53.2. ()

(d) Asbestos — Cases involving claims for personal injury or property damage from
exposure to asbestos, ()

(e) Special Management — Cases that do not fall into tracks (a) through (d) that are
commonly referred to as complex and that need special or intense management by
the court. (See reverse side of this form for a detailed explanation of special

management cases.) ()
(f) Standard Management — Cases that do not fall into any one of the other tracks. /bé
oS -26-/0 Henry Ya% Plaintiff, Marie Funk
Date Attorney-at-law Attorney for
(215) 665-1600 {(215) 564-2262 hvampolsky@galfandberger.,com
T_elephone FAX Number E-Mail Address

(Clv. 660) 10/02
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Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan
Section 1:03 - Assignment to a Management Track

{a) The clerk of court will assign cases to tracks (a) through (d) based on the initial pleading.

{b) In all cases not appropriate for assignment by the clerk of court to tracks (a) through (d), the
plaintiff shall submit to the clerk of court and serve with the complaint on all defendants a case management
track designation form specifying that the plaintiff believes the case requires Standard Management or
Special Management. In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on the
plaintiff and all other parties, a case management track designation form specifying the track to which that
defendant believes the case should be assigned.

(c) The court may, on its own initiative or upon the request of any party, change the track
assignment of any case at any time.

(d) Nothing in this Plan is intended to abrogate or limit a judicial officer's authority in any case
pending before that judicial officer, to direct pretrial and trial proceedings that are more stringent than those
of the Plan and that are designed to accomplish cost and delay reduction.

(e} Nothing in this Plan is intended to supersede Local Civil Rules 40.1 and 72.1, or the
procedure for random assignment of Habeas Corpus and Social Security cases referred to magistrate judges
of the court.

SPECIAL MANAGEMENT CASE ASSIGNMENTS
(See §1.02 (e) Management Track Definitions of the
Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan)

Special Management cases will usually include that class of cases commonly referred to as "complex
litigation" as that term has been used in the Manuals for Complex Litigation. The first manual was prepared
in 1969 and the Manual for Complex Litigation Second, MCL 2d was prepared in 1985, This term is
intended to include cases that present unusual problems and require extraordinary treatment. See §0.1 of the
first manual. Cases may require special or intense management by the court due to one or more of the
following factors: (1) large number of parties; (2) large number of claims or defenses; (3) complex factual
issues; (4) large volume of evidence; (5) problems locating or preserving evidence; (6) extensive discovery;
{7) exceptionally long time needed to prepare for disposition; (8) decision needed within an exceptionally
short time; and (9) need to decide preliminary issues before final disposition. It may include two or more
related cases. Complex litigation typically includes such cases as antitrust cases; cases involving a large
number of parties or an unincorporated association of large membership; cases involving requests for
injunctive relief affecting the operation of large business entities; patent cases; copyright and trademark
cases; common disaster cases such as those arising from aireraft crashes or marine disasters; actions brought
by individual stockholders; stockholder's derivative and stockholder's representative actions, class actions or
potential class actions; and other civil (and criminal) cases involving unusual multiplicity or complexity of
factual issues. See §0.22 of the first Manual for Complex Litigation and Manual for Complex Litigation
Second, Chapter 33.
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AO 398 (Rev. 01/09) Notice of a Lawsuit and Request to Waive Service of a Surmnons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania

Marie Funk

Plaintifjf
v

. Civil Action No.
County of Bucks, et al

B T

Defendant
NOTICE OF A LAWSUIT AND REQUEST TO WAIVE SERVICE OF A SUMMONS

To: County of Bucks

{(Namie of the defendant or - if the defendant is a corporation, parinership, or association - an gfficer or agen! authorized fo receive service;

Why are you getting this?

A lawsuit has been filed against you, or the entity you represent, in this court under the number shown above.
A copy of the complaint is attached.

This is not a summons, or an official notice from the court. Itisarequestthat, to avoid expenses, you waive formal
service of a summons by signing and returning the enclosed waiver. To avoid these expenses, you must return the signed

watver within =~ 30 days (give at feast 30 days, or at least 60 days if the deg"er-:dant is outside any fudicial district of the Unifed States)
from the date shown below, which isthe date this notice was sent. Two copies of the waiver form are enclosed, along with
a stamped, self-addressed envelope or other prepaid means for returning one copy. You may keep the other copy.

What happens next?

If you return the signed waiver, I will file it with the court. The action will then proceed as if you had been served
on the date the waiver is filed, but no summons will be served on you and you will have 60 days from the date this notice
1s sent (see the date below) to answer the complaint (or 90 days if this notice is sent to you outside any judicial district of
the United States).

If you do not return the signed waiver within the time indicated, I will arrange to have the summons and complaint
served on you. And I'will ask the court to require you, or the entity you represent, to pay the expenses of making service.

Please read the enclosed statement about the dutyto-avoid unnecessary expenses.

I certify that this request is being sent to you on the date below,

Daic: Q€=2 6"’/0 W

Signatire of fhe@fgmi)y or wnrepresented party

Henry Yampolsky, Esquire

Printed name

Galfand Berger, LLP
1835 Market Street, Suite 2710
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Address

hyampolsky@galfandberger.com

H-mail addyess

(215) 665-1600

Telephone number
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AQ 398 (Rev. (11/09) Notice of a Lawsuit and Request to Waive Service of a Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania

Marie Funk

Plaintifff
V.

County of Bucks, et al

Civil Action No.

N S Nt o N

Defendant
NOTICE OF A LAWSUIT AND REQUEST TO WAIVE SERVICE OF A SUMMONS

To: David Neil, Jr., Individuaily and in his Official Capacity with the County of Bucks

(Name of the defendant or - if the defendant is a corporation, partnership, or association - an officer or agent anthorized 1o receive service)

Why are you getting this?

A lawsuit has been filed against you, or the entity you represent, in this court under the number shown above.
A copy of the complaint is attached.

This 1s not a summons, or an official notice from the court. Itis a request that, to avoid expenses, you waive formal
service of a summons by signing and returning the enclosed waiver. To avoid these expenses, you must return the signed

waitver within 30 days (give at least 30 days, or at least 60 days if the defendant is outside any judicial district of the United States)

from the date shown below, which is the date this notice was sent. Two copies of the waiver form are enclosed, along with
a stamped, self-addressed envelope or other prepaid means for returning one copy. You may keep the other copy.

What happens next?

If you retumn the signed waiver, I will file it with the court. The action will then proceed as if you had been served
on the date the waiver is filed, but no summons will be served on you and you will have 60 days from the date this notice
is sent (see the date below) to answer the complaint (or 90 days if this notice is sent to you outside any judicial district of
the United States).

If you do not return the signed waiver within the time indicated, 1 will arrange to have the summons and complaint
served on you. And I will ask the court to require you, or the entity you represent, to pay the expenses of making service.

Please read the enclosed statement about the duty to avoid unnecessary expenses.

1 certify that this request is being sent to you on the date below.

Date: OS=26~-/0 W

Signature of the aﬁo@?" unrepresented party

Henry Yampolsky, Esquire

Printed name

Galfand Berger, LLP
1835 Market Street, Suite 2710
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Address

hyampolsky@galfandberger.com

B-mail address

(215} 865-1600

Telephone number
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+ AG 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Fastern District of Pennsylvania

Marie Funk
Plaintiff
V.
County of Bucks, et al
Defendant

Civil Action No.

N vt Nt vt "

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Henry Yampolsky, Esquire
(Name of the plaintifl s attorney or unrepresented plaintiff}

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity | represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that [, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
Jjurigdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within
60 days from , the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the
United States). If I fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered against me or the entity I represent.

Date:

Signature of the attorney or unirepiesenled parly

County of Bucks

Printed name of parly waiving service of summons Printed naine

Address

F-matl addyess

Telephone number

Duty te Avoid Unnccessary Expenses of Serving a Summons

Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires cortain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint. A defendant wlho is located in the United States and who fails to retumn a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does nof include a belief that the lawsuif is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurtsdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a swmmons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintill’
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you arc allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served.
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AQ 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania

Marie Funk
Plaintiff
V.
County of Bucks, et al
Defendant

Civil Action No.

S Nt et S St

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Henry Yampolsky, Esquire
(Name of the plaintiff"s attorney or unvepresented plaintiffy

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you,

I, or the entity | represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity 1 represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within
60 days from , the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the
United States). If 1 fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered against me or the entity I represent.

Date:

Signature of the attorney ov unrepresented parly

___David Neil, Jr., Invid. & in his Official Capacity with +he County

Printed name of parly waiving service of summons of Bucks Printed name

 Address

E-mail address

Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons

Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a sumunons
and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to retum a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure,

“Good cause™ does nof include a belief that the lawsnit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an impreper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or amotion under Rule 12 on the plaintifl
and [ile a copy with the comt. By signing and retuming the waiver form, you are allowed more lime to respond than if a sumimons had been served.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MARIE FUNK : CIVIL ACTION NO.:
133 Wigton Circle :
Perkasie, PA 18944

Plaintiff,

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
\&

COUNTY OF BUCKS
55 East Court Street
Doylestown, PA 18901

and

DAVID NEIL, JR., Individually and in
His Official Capacity with the County
Of Bucks
¢/o County of Bucks
55 East Court Street
Doylestown, PA 18901

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

L INTRODUCTION

=

Plaintiff Marie Funk files the within action to redress violations of t

e Equal

Clause and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and

seeks declaratory relief and damages.

I JURISDICTION

1. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this civil rights action pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1331, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C.§ 1343,

2. This 1s an action pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,
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42 U.S.C. § 1983, to redress the deprivation of Plaintift’s constitutional rights who, due to her
female gender, was subjected to daily severe and pervasive sexual harassment and gender
discrimination which was severe and pervasive enough to change and/or materially affect the
terms, conditions and privileges of Plaintifl”s employment with Defendant County of Bucks.

3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(h), since all
Defendants reside in this District and the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.

.  PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Marie Funk is an adult female individual and a citizen and resident of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, residing therein at 133 Wigton Circle, Peraksie, PA 18944,

5. Defendant County of Bucks is a political subdivision within the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania, headquartered at 55 Hast Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901,

6. Defendant David Neil, Jr., Individually and in his official capacity with the
County of Bucks is an adult male individual, who is believed to be a citizen and resident of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, whose address for purposes of service of process 1s ¢/o County
of Bucks, 55 East Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901.

IV.  FACTS UPON WHICH CLAIMS ARE BASED

7. Plaintiff Marie Funk has been employed as a 911 Dispatcher for Defendant
County of Bucks since approximately 1987,

8. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant David Neil, Jr., served as the Assistant
Superintendent of Operations of Department of Emergency Communications of Defendant
County of Bucks.

9. At all relevant times, Defendant David Neil, Jr.’s position was superior to the

positions of Plaintiff Marie Funk and Defendant David Neil, Jr. had supervisory authority over
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Plamtiff Funk.

10. At all relevant times, Defendant David Neil, Jr. was acting in his official capacity
and under the color of state law.

11. At all relevant times, Defendant David Neil, Jr., while acting in his supervisory
and official capacity and under the color of state law, engaged in daily pattern and practice of
severe and pervasive sexual harassment and gender discrimination directed towards Plaintiff
Marie Funk, an employee of Defendant County of Bucks’ Radio Room and Emergency
Communications Department.

12. At all relevant times, Defendant County of Bucks knew or should have known
about the existence of a sexually charged, discriminatory and derogatory atmosphere in its
Department of Emergency Communications and specifically in Defendant’s Radio Room, where
on a daily basis, Plaintiff Marie Funk was subjected to sexually suggestive remarks, lewd jokes,
unwelcome touching, pornographic and sexually explicit imagery and unwanted sexual
harassment by supervisors, including by Defendant David Neil, Jr.

13.  Beginning in approximately 1987 and continuing up and until his termination in
April of 2008, Defendant David Neil, Jr., engaged in the pattern and practice of severe and
pervasive sexual harassment and gender discrimination directed towards Plaintiff Marie Funk,
which included, but was not limited to making sexually suggestive remarks, lewd jokes and
commentary, unwelcome touching and other unwanted sexual harassment.

COUNTI
PLAINTIFE MARIE FUNK v. ALL DEFENDANTS

VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION
42 U.S.C. § 1983

14. Plaintiff hereby incorporates the preceding paragraphs of her Complaint as though

stated in length herein.
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15. The above-described conduct of Defendants constitutes a pattern and practice of
harassment and discrimination based on Plaintiff’s female gender.

16. The said conduct was severe and pervasive and affected the terms, conditions and
privileges of Plaintiff’s employment and created a hostile work environment for Plaintiff based
on her female gender.

17. At all times Defendants were acting as state actors, in their official capacities and
under color of state law, and with express intent to discriminate against Plaintiff based on her
female gender and to deprive her of her Constitutional Right to Equal Protection Under the Law.

18. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, as described above, Plamtiff Marie Funk
suffered injuries and damages, which include, but are not limited to emotional distress,
embarrassment and humiliation, anxiety, sleep disturbances, depressed mood, feelings of
worthlessness, helplessness, and hopelessness, loss of enjoyment of life and life’s pleasures and
other ills, injuries and damages the full extent of which is yet unknown and which may continue
indefinitely into the future.

19. As a further result of Defendants’ conduct, as described above, Plaintiff Marie
Funk was forced to incur and is expected to continue to incur ongoing attorney’s fees and various
other administrative costs, the full extent of which is not-yet known.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Marie Funk request the following relief be granted:
a) This Honorable Court find that Defendants are in violation of the law and
have infringed on Plaintiff’s Constitutional Rights to Equal Protection Under the Law.
b) That Defendants be forever and permanently enjoined from infringing on
Plamntiff’s Constitutional Rights.

c) That Defendants be ordered to pay Plaintiff’s damages and be required to
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pay Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs of suit.
d) That this Honorable Court order any other relief that may be just and
proper under the Constitution and laws of the United States.
COUNT I

PLAINTIEEF MARIE FUNK v. DEFENDANT DAVID NEIL, JR.
PUNITIVE DAMAGES

20. Plaintiff hereby incorporates the preceding paragraphs of her Complaint as though
stated in length herein.

21. The conduct of Defendant David Neil, Jr., performed in his official capacity and
under color of state law, constituted intentional, willful, wanton, deliberate and malicious
infringement on, violation and intentional and reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s Constitutional
Rights to Equal Protection under the Law based on her female gender.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Marie Funk seeks the award of Punitive Damages.

Respectfully submitted,

GALFAND BERGER, L.L.P.

”

- DEBRA AJENSEN, ESQUIRE-
HENRY YAMPOLSKY, ESQUIRE
1835 Market Street Suite 2710
Philadelphia, PA 19103
(215) 665-1600
Fax: (215) 564-2262
diensen@ealfandberger com
hyvampolskyitgallandberger.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marie Funk
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MARIE FUNK : CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff : NO:
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
V.
COUNTY OF BUCKS
and

DAVID NEIL, JR., Individually and in
His Official Capacity with the County
Of Bucks

Defendants.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[, Henry Yampolsky, Esquire, hereby certify that a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s
Complaint was served on the following individuals via United States Postal Service, First Class
Mail, Postage pre-paid on May 26, 2010:

County of Bucks
55 East Court Street
Doylestown, PA 18901

David Neil, Jr.
cfo County of Bucks -
55 East Court Street
Doylestown, PA 18901

GALFAND BERGER, L.L.P.

BY: {
HENRY&AMPOLSKY, ESQUIRB
1835 Market Street, Suite 2710
Philadelphia, PA 19103
(215) 665-1600
Fax: (215) 564-2262
hvampolskyi@gallandberger.oom
Attorney for Plaintiff Marie Funk
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MARIE FUNK :
133 Wigton Circle : CIVIL ACTION NO.

Perkasie, PA 18944 : 10-CV-02553
Plaintiff :

Vs.

COUNTY OF BUCKS :
55 East Court Street : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Doylestown, PA 18901
AND

DAVID NEIL, JR.

c/o County of Bucks

55 East Court Street

Doylestown, PA 18901
Defendants

DEFENDANT, DAVID NEIL, JR.’S, ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF’S
COMPLAINT

Defendant, David Neil, Jr., by and through his counsel hereby Answers the
allegations set forth in Plaintiff’s Complaint and states:
JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
1. Admitted.
2. Denicd as stated. Defendant, Neil, denies he engaged in workplace sexual
harassment or discrimination of any kind towards Plaintiff.

3. Admitted in part. It is admitted only that as set forth in Plaintiff’s
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Complaint it appears all parties to the instant action reside in the Eastern District and
Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges certain conduct of the parties occurred in the Eastern
District.

PARTIES

4, Denied as stated. Defendant, Neil, has no knowledge as to the veracity of
the averments set forth in this paragraph and therefore cannot admit or deny said
averments,

5. Admitted, to the best of Defendant, Neil’s, knowledge.

6. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that Defendant Neil is an
adult individual residing in the County of Bucks. It is specifically denied as stated that
Defendant Neil is currently employed in an official capacity with the County of Bucks.

FACTS UPON WHICH CLAIMS ARE BASED

7. Admitted in part, denied in part. Defendant, Neil, has no knowledge as to
the veracity of the averments regarding how long Plaintiff worked for Defendant, Bucks
County, as set forth in this paragraph and therefore cannot admit or deny said averments.
It is admitted, however, that Plaintiff did work as a telecommunicator and/or 911
dispatcher in the radio room of the Bucks County Communications Center for some
period of time.

8. Denied as stated. It is denied that Defendant David Neil Jr., served as the
Assistant Superintendent of Operations for Department of Emergency Communications

of Defendant County of Bucks since 1987.
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0. Denied as stated. Defendant, Neil, worked for Defendant, Bucks County,
for a longer period of time than Plaintiff and, as a result, had greater seniority than
Plaintiff.

10.  Admitted in part, Denied as stated. Plaintiff’s Complaint names
Defendant Neil both individually and in his official capacity. It is admitted that
Defendant Neil was an employee of the County of Bucks. The remaining averment is
denied as a conclusion of law.

11.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied
and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded.

12.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are directed to
Defendants other than Answering Defendant and are therefore denied. To the extent any
of the averments in this paragraph are directed at Answering Defendant they are
specifically denied and strict proof in support of such averment is demanded.

13. Denied as stated. Defendant, Neil, voluntarily retired from the employ of
the County of Bucks. By way of further answer, the averments set forth in this paragraph
are specifically denied as conclusions of law. Moreover, the remaining averments are

specifically denied and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded.

COUNT 1 —-42 U.S.C. §1983
14,  Defendant, Neil, incorporates by reference his Answers to paragraphs 1 —
13 of Plaintiff’s Complaint as though more fully set forth herein. As such, no further

response is necessary.
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15.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied
and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded. By way of further answer, the
averment set forth in this paragraph purports to be a conclusion of law for which no
further response is required.

16.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied
and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded. By way of further answer, the
averment set forth in this paragraph purports to be a conclusion of law for which no
further response is required.

17.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied
and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded. By way of further answer, the
averment set forth in this paragraph purports to be a conclusion of law for which no
further response is required.

18.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied
and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded. By way of further answer, the
averment set forth in this paragraph purports to be a conclusion of law for which no
further response is required.

19.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied
and strict proof in support of such averments is demanded. By way of further answer, the
averment set forth in this paragraph purports to be a conclusion of law for which no

further response is required.
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WHEREFORE, Defendant, David Neil, Jr., seeks judgment in his favor and
against Plaintiff and respectfully requests this Court dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint with

prejudice, and award costs and attorneys fees against Plaintiff.

COUNT I1 — PUNITIVE DAMAGES

20.  Defendant, Neil, incorporates by reference his Answers to paragraphs 1 — 19
of Plaintiff’s Complaint as though more fully set forth herein. As such, no further
response is necessary.

21.  Denied. The averments set forth in this paragraph are specifically denied and
strict proof in support of such averments is demanded. By way of further answer, the
averment set forth in this paragraph purports to be a conclusion of law for which no

further response is required.

WHEREFORE, Defendant, David Neil, Jr., seeks judgment in his favor and against
Plaintiff and respectfully requests this Court dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint with prejudice,

and award costs and attorneys fees against Plaintiff.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations.
THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the doctrines of waiver, estoppel and/or laches.
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FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Defendant’s actions were not the proximate or direct cause of any damages, injury
or loss allegedly suffered by Plaintiff, the existence of which is denied.
FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the doctrine of unclean hands.
SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff has failed to mitigate her damages.
WHEREFORE, Defendant, David Neil, Jr., respectfully requests this Court
dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint with prejudice, and award costs and attorneys fees against

Plaintiff,

TIMBY HUNT, LLC

Date: "I\z "I\‘ 1 \\Bﬁk")\w

Tracy Paul Hunt, Esquire

PA Atty. ID: 80158
tph@timbyhunt.com

A. Anthony Rohach, Esquire
PA Atty. ID: 200964
aar@timbyhunt.com

110 North State Street
Newtown, PA 18940
(215) 968-6886

Attorneys for Defendant,
David Neil, Jr.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Tracy Paul Hunt, Esquire, hereby certify that on July 27, 2010, I caused
a true and correct copy of the foregoing Answer of Defendant, David Neil, Jr., to
Plaintiff’s Complaint to be filed electronically and that it is available for viewing and
downloading from the Court’s ECF system. [ further certify that I caused a true and
correct copy of same to be served via first class mail upon the following counsel of

record:

Henry Yampolsky, Esquire
Galfand Berger, L.L.P.
1835 Market Street

Suite 2710

Philadelphia, PA 19086

Frank A. Chernak, Esquire
Ballard Spahr, LLP

1735 Market Street, 51% Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103

NN

Tracy PauNHunt, Esquire
A. Anthony Rohach, Esquire
Attorneys for Defendant, David Neil, Jr.
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CERTIFICATE oF SERVICE

I hereby certify that op September 17, 2009, | served a true ang correct copy of
the foregoing motion to fije amended comp]ajny against the County of Bucks ang
accompanying Mmeémorandum of Jaw upon the foHowing persons via first-class mail,
bostage prepaid:

Frank A. Chernak
Ballard Spahr Andrews & Ingersoll L1 p
1735 Market St, 51st F

Philadelphia, pa 19103-7599

Tracy P. Hupy
Timby Hynt LLC

110 North State Street
P.O. Box 99
Newtown » PA 18940

P

Thomas D, Schneider




Case 2:09-cv-01240-AB Document 16 Filed 10/23/09 Page 1 of 10

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

LUCILLE OLIVIERI,

CIVIL ACTION
PlaintifT,
V.
COUNTY OF BUCKS and : NO. 09-1240
DAVID NEIL, JR., :
Defendants.

ANSWER OF DEFENDANT COUNTY OF BUCKS
TO THE AMENDED COMPLAINT OF LUCILLE OLIVIERI

Defendant County of Bucks (the “County” or “Defendant”), by and through its
undersigned counsel,' hereby answers the Amended Complaint filed by Plaintiff Lucille Olivieri
(“Plaintiff”), denying every averment except as to those expressly admitted below.

1. The allegations contained in Paragraph 1 of the Amended Complaint are
deemed to be denied to the extent that they state conclusions of law to which no responsive
pleading is required.

2. It is admitted that Ms. Olivieri has filed sexual harassment complaints in
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) and Pennsylvania Human Relations
Commission (“PHRC”). The County denies the allegations made in this paragraph to the extent
that these allegations state conclusions of law to which no responsive pleading is required. If
and to the extent a further response is deemed to be required, the County admits only that
Plaintiff purports to bring a civil rights action against the defendants in this matter under the

statutes cited. Further, the County denies that Plaintiff is entitled to any relief under the cited

‘ The undersigned counsel does not represent Defendant David Neil, Jr.

DMEAST #10240802
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statutes. The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 1 of the Amended Complaint are
denied.
3. Admitted.

THE PARTIES

4. It is admitted that Ms. Olivieri is an adult individual and is vested with
certain rights, privileges and immunities as a citizen of these United States and of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to
form a belief as to the truth of the averment contained in Paragraph 4 of the Amended Complaint
that Ms. Olivieri resides at the address in the caption of the Amended Complaint, and on that
basis denies that averment.

5. Admitted.

6. It is admitted that Defendant David Neil, Jr. (“Neil”) is an adult individual
who was employed by the County of Bucks. The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 6
of the Amended Complaint are denied.

7. Admitted.

8. It is admitted that at some time, Neil’s job title was the Assistant
Superintendent of Operations. The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 8 of the

Amended Complaint are denied.
9. Admitted.

10. The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of the averments contained in Paragraph 10 of the Amended Complaint, and

on that basis denies those averments.

DMEAST #10240802 2
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11 The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of the averments contained in Paragraph 11 of the Amended Complaint, and
on that basis denies those averments.

12. It is admitted that McCormick was another female working in the radio
room as referenced in footnote 1 to Paragraph 12 of the Amended Complaint. The County 1s
without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the remaining
averments contained in Paragraph 12, A through Q, of the Amended Complaint, and on that basis

denies those averments.

13. Denied.
14. Denied.
15. It is admitted that Dennis Forsythe and Jeanne Katz were in the room

during a conversation involving Carmen Thome, the Human Resources Director, and Plaintiff.
The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 15 of the Amended Complaint are denied.

16. The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of the averments contained in Paragraph 16 of the Amended Complaint, and
on that basis denies those averments.

17.  The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of the averments contained in Paragraph 17 of the Amended Complaint, and

on that basis denies those averments.

18. Denied.
19. Denied.
20. Denied.
21. Denied.

DMEAST #10240802 3
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22. Dented.

23. The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of the averments contained in Paragraph 23 of the Amended Complaint, and
on that basis denies those averments.

24. The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of the averments contained in Paragraph 24 of the Amended Complaint, and

on that basis denies those averments.

25. Denied.
26. Denied.
27. Denied.

28.  Admitted.

29.  Admitted.

30. Denied.

31. Denied.

32. It is admitted that in early March 2009, the County of Bucks imposed
Level I discipline (a reprimand) against Ms. Olivieri. The remaining averments contained in
Paragraph 32 of the Amended Complaint are denied.

33. Admitted.

34, It is admitted that on March 17, 2009, the County of Bucks sent Ms.
Olivieri home with pay pending further investigation. The remaining averments contained in

Paragraph 34 of the Amended Complaint are denied.

DMEAST #10240802 4
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35. It is admitted that on March 18, 2009, the County of Bucks held Ms.
Olivieri’s grievance hearing as well as a disciplinary hearing. The remaining averments
contained in Paragraph 35 of the Amended Complaint are denied.

36. It is admitted that at the conclusion of the March 18, 2009 hearings, the
County of Bucks sent Ms. Olivieri home with pay and ordered her to take remedial training
relating to 911 call procedures. The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 36 of the
Amended Complaint are denied.

37. Denied.

WHEREFORE, Defendant County of Bucks requests that the Court dismiss the
Amended Complaint, enter judgment in its favor, and assess costs and attorney fees against the
Plaintiff.

COUNTI-42 U.S.C. § 1983
Plaintiff v. All Defendants

38. The County incorporates herein by reference its answers to Paragraphs 1
through 37 of the Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

39. The allegations contained in Paragraph 39 of the Amended Complaint are
deemed to be denied to the extent that they state conclusions of law to which no responsive
pleading is required. If and to the extent a further response is deemed to be required, the County
denies the averments contained in Paragraph 39 of the Amended Complaint.

40. The allegations contained in Paragraph 40 of the Amended Complaint are
deemed to be denied to the extent that they state conclusions of law to which no responsive
pleading is required. If and to the extent a further response is deemed to be required, the County

denies the averments contained in Paragraph 40 of the Amended Complaint.

DMEAST #10240802 5
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41. The allegations contained in Paragraph 41 of the Amended Complaint are
deemed to be denied to the extent that they state conclusions of law to which no responsive
pleading is required. If and to the extent a further response is deemed to be required, the County
denies the averments contained in Paragraph 41 of the Amended Complaint.

42. Denied.

43. The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of Plaintiff’s beliefs. The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 43

of the Amended Complaint are denied.

44, The County is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a
belief as to the truth of Plaintiff’s beliefs. The remaining averments contained in Paragraph 44

of the Amended Complaint are denied.

45. Denied.
COUNT II1 -42 U.S.C. § 1983
Plaintiff v. County of Bucks
40. The County incorporates herein by reference its answers to Paragraphs 1

through 45 of the Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

47. The allegations contained in Paragraph 47 of the Amended Complaint are
deemed to be denied to the extent that they state conclusions of law to which no responsive
pleading is required. If and to the extent a further response is deemed to be required, the County

denies the averments contained in Paragraph 47 of the Amended Complaint.

48. Denied.
49, Denied.
50. Denied.

DMEAST #10240802 6
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COUNT III - Pennsylvania Human Relations Act
Plaintiff v. All Defendants

51. The County incorporates herein by reference its answers to Paragraphs 1

through 50 of the Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

52. Denied.
53. Denied.
54. Denied.
55. Denied.

WHEREFORE, Defendant County of Bucks requests that the Court dismiss the
Amended Complaint, enter judgment in its favor, and assess costs and attorney fees against the

Plaintiff.

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations.

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff>s claims are barred by the doctrines of waiver, estoppel, and laches.

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County acted at all times in good faith and for legitimate and

nondiscriminatory reasons.

DMEAST #10240802 7
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FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County’s actions or inactions were not the proximate, legal, or substantial
cause of any damages, injury or loss suffered by Plaintiff, the existence of which is denied.

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County exercised reasonable care to prevent and correct promptly any
harassing behavior and the Plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventive or
corrective opportunities provided by the Defendants or to avoid harm otherwise.

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims have not been timely filed with the appropriate administrative

agencies.

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintift’s claims for relief are limited by the statutory limitations on damages.

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to mitigate her damages.

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The County took prompt remedial and appropriate steps in response to Plaintiff’s

complaints of sexual harassment.

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claim for punitive damages is unconstitutional.

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred because all actions of the County were proper,

privileged, justified, and undertaken in good faith.

DMEAST #10240802 8
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WHEREFORE, Defendant County of Bucks requests that the Court dismiss the

Amended Complaint, enter judgment in its favor, and assess costs and attorney fees against the

Plaintiff.

Date: October 23 2009 /}\"-' L w' &L (/

Frank A. Chernak (Attorney 1.D. No. 57602)
BALLARD SPAHR LLP

1735 Market Street, 51st Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599

(215) 846-8234

Email: chernakf(@ballardspahr.com

Attorneys for Defendant County of Bucks

DMEAST #10240802 9
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Frank A. Chernak, hereby certify that on the l 3 day of October, 2009, a
true and correct copy of the foregoing Answer of Defendant County of Bucks to the Amended
Complaint of Lucille Olivieri has been filed electronically and is available for viewing and
downloading from the ECF system. [ further certify that I caused a true and correct copy of
same to be served upon the following counsel via electronic filing:

Thomas D. Schneider, Esquire
55 Green Valley Road
Wallingford, PA 19086
Tracy Paul Hunt, Esquire

110 N. State Street
Newtown, PA 18940

Date: _October 3, 2009 L ﬁ( (’/L,

Frank A. Chernak

DMEAST #11903396 v1
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